**Identification**

1. **Building Name**: Davison Art Center  
   **Historic**: Richard Alsop IV House
2. **Town/City**: Middletown  
   **Village**:  
   **County**: Middlesex
3. **Street & Number (and/or location)**: 301 High Street
4. **Owner(s)**: Wesleyan University
   **Public/Private**: Public
5. **Use**: Present: Art Center  
   **Historic**: Residence
6. **Accessibility to Public**: Exterior visible from public road: Yes  
   **Interior Accessible**: Yes, explain galleries; restored rooms open No
   **Exterior Access**:  
   **Interior Access**:

**Description**

7. **Style of Building**: Greek Revival-Italianate  
   **Date of Construction**: 1838-1839
8. **Material(s)**:  
   - Clapboard
   - Wood shingle
   - Board & batten
   - Aluminum siding
   - Other:
   - Brick
   - Asbestos siding
   - Stucco
   - Concrete: Type:
   - Fieldstone
   - Cobblestone
   - Cut stone: Type:
9. **Structural System**:  
   - Wood frame: Post and beam
   - Load bearing masonry
   - Structural iron or steel
   - Other:
10. **Roof**:  
    - Gable
    - Gambrel
    - Shed
    - Mansard
    - Monitor
    - Hip
    - Round
    - Other:
    - Material:
      - Wood shingle
      - Roll asphalt
      - Asphalt shingle
      - Built up
      - Tin
      - Slate
      - Other: 45'x38'; wing 54'x19';
11. **Number of Stories**: 2  
    **Approximate Dimensions**: Gallery 43'x22'; Library 57'x60
12. **Condition**:  
    - Structural: Excellent
    - Exterior: Excellent
    - Excellent
    - Good
    - Fair
    - Deteriorated
13. **Integrity**:  
    - Location: On original site
    - Moved, When:  
    - Alterations: No
    - Yes, Explain: Colonnade enclosed; gallery and library wings added
14. **Related Outbuildings or Landscape Features**:  
    - Barn
    - Shed
    - Carriage house
    - Shop
    - Garage
    - Garden
    - Other landscape features or buildings: Parking lot, north side; iron fence along High Street
15. **Surrounding Environment**: College campus  
    - Open land
    - Woodland
    - Residential
    - Scattered buildings visible from site
    - Commercial
    - Industrial
    - Rural
    - High building density
16. **Interrelationship of Building and Surroundings**: This stately mansion faces east to the Connecticut River from the west side of High Street opposite the intersection of Court Street. It is set back from the street atop a rise. A high iron fence borders the property along High Street. This house makes an important contribution to the elegance and high style which characterized High Street as the preferred residential area in nineteenth-century Middletown. It is now part of the campus of Wesleyan University.
17. OTHER NOTABLE FEATURES OF BUILDING OR SITE (interior and/or exterior):

- Tuscan veranda with elaborate ironwork
- Stucco scribed to resemble ashlar
- Trompe l'oeil paintings exterior (figures in niches)
- Interior wall paintings
- Antique furnishings

**SIGNIFICANCE**  
L. Beach Platt & Francis Benne  
Architect: of New Haven  
Barzillai Sage-mason  
Builder: Isaac Baldwin-carpenter

18. HISTORICAL OR ARCHITECTURAL IMPORTANCE: The Alsop house was built in 1838-1839 by Richard Alsop, IV for his twice-widowed mother, Mrs. Maria (Alsop) Dana. The firm of Platt & Benne of New Haven was evidently responsible for the design, although it is possible that they drew their inspiration from Ithiel Town's own home in New Haven, which may account for the similarities of the two structures as well as for a former attribution of the Alsop House to Town himself. The well-known Middletown builders, Barzillai Sage and Isaac W. Baldwin, performed the masonry and carpentry work, respectively. The house remained in the hands of the Alsop family until its acquisition in 1948 by Wesleyan University.

This house is significant architecturally for its transitional Greek-Tuscan Italianate appearance. The cubical, two-story, central block with overhanging eaves is flanked by colonnaded one-and-a-half story wings. A swag and tassel design decorates the frieze of the central block, which also displays a veranda supported by delicate ironwork and surmounted by an intricate balustrade.

A rear colonnaded wing which originally housed servant's quarters and service facilities (see continuation sheet).

**PHOTOGRAPH**

photographer: John E. Reynolds  
date: 11/77  
view: east  
negative on file: Roll 2, #20

**COMPILED BY:**

name: John E. Reynolds  
date: 9/78  
organization: Greater Middletown Preservation Trust  
address: 27 Washington St., Middletown, Ct. 06457

19. SOURCES: Research provided by Smith Edwards Architects, 331 Wethersfield Ave., Hartford, Ct. 06114, 1979; Descriptive Brochure, "The Davison Art Center" Wesleyan University

20. SUBSEQUENT FIELD EVALUATIONS:

21. THREATS TO BUILDING OR SITE:

- [x] none known
- [ ] highways
- [ ] vandalism
- [ ] developers
- [ ] other:
- [ ] renewal
- [ ] private
- [ ] deterioration
- [ ] zoning
- [ ] explanation:

[Image: Building exterior with veranda and colonnade]
#18

has been enclosed. At the west end of this wing are attached an art gallery of recent construction and the art library, originally the stable.

The interior of the Alsop house is noted for its decorative wall paintings. The stair hall displays trompe l'oeil painting of figures in niches, while the parlors, dining room and morning-room feature oil-on-plaster paintings. The parlor paintings are classically derived and some of the subjects are Raphaelesque in origin. In the morning room the formal classicism of the parlors is replaced by scenes derived from the "rural" Italian tradition of wall decoration. Local birds and insects are featured in these scenes. The dining room displays a painted frieze.

The main rooms of the house are furnished with period antiques and provide a suitable atmosphere in which to display the wall painting.

In its carefully restored condition, the Alsop house remains a monument to the skill of its designers, while serving Wesleyan University and the community as an art center.